# How and Why to Conduct On-Orbit Space Domain Awareness Using Computational Methods to Supplement Human Operators

# Contents

Abstract
Background2
Image Recognition and Computer Vision3
How Image Recognition and Computer Vision Operate3
Satellites3
Debris4
Early Warning4
Hypersonic Aircraft and Projectiles4
Planetary Defense
Object Avoidance
Maneuver Recommendations5
Autonomous Action
Maneuver6
Repair6
Defense7
Offense7
Ethics7
Algorithmic Checks and Balances8
Conclusion9
References

## Abstract

Space is an exciting environment attracting enough players to soon exceed the ability to effectively track objects manually. We will need to update our space traffic systems to use artificial intelligence as supplements or replacements for human operators to achieve continued steady access to space. Computer vision will be a crucial component of sensing assets for space domain awareness conducted in orbit. We can extend this space traffic control network for planetary defense against near-earth objects that could pose impact risks. Besides tracking satellites and debris in Earth orbits, it can also provide traffic information for cislunar assets.

If the Space Force operates these assets, they can also be used as early warning sensors for terrestrial actions that would be harder to detect if only looking for infrared flashes. Using computer vision space domain awareness algorithms as a base, we can add additional algorithmic models suggesting recommended maneuvers to operators. With further development, these algorithms can conduct maneuvers themselves. They can also run sub-missions for the Space Force. As we design these systems, we must avoid common ethical traps and decisions that would erode trust in the algorithms among operators and civilian regulators or oversight authorities.

## Background

With the proliferation of space objects in Earth's orbit,<sup>[1]</sup> we will soon exceed the ability to effectively track objects manually. We will eventually reach a point where space traffic control will require automated maneuvering to avoid collisions. Further, continued automation will be necessary for planetary defense, early warning for terrestrial and aerial assets, and making decisions for orbital actions. The challenges associated with Earth orbits will compound as we enter cislunar space with many unstable orbits and distances so vast that tracking objects becomes even more complex.<sup>[2]</sup> Some of these tasks can be handled by scripts and standard automation. However, because of the inherently dynamic nature of space, some of this will need to be handled by intelligent machinery trained on general data but free to act as it sees fit (within acceptable parameters).<sup>[3], [4]</sup>

Computer vision for object recognition and classifying new objects are examples of tasks that cannot be merely scripted. In the space environment, many objects can be classified based on common characteristics. However, debris and new objects without previous reference imagery will require a certain level of inference based on previous information. Humans are very good at performing abstract recognition like this. However, because of the speed and volume with which debris fields may manifest in Kessler-Syndrome-like manners,<sup>[5]</sup> human operators will be unable to keep pace with the conditions if unaided by machines. Plausible machine-assisted methods include supervised or unsupervised machine learning and other methods, which will be discussed in this paper. Regardless of the methods used, the algorithms employed will need to be speedy, reliable, and trustable. Furthermore, in many cases, the decisions made by those algorithms need to be explained in a way that will allow a human operator to understand if an algorithm is acting based on junk data. The algorithms must also be transparent enough to enable an operator to know if it is going outside the bounds of the law or what is desired within the diplomacy, information, military, and economy realms of the decision-making framework.<sup>[6]</sup>, <sup>[7]</sup>

## Image Recognition and Computer Vision

#### How Image Recognition and Computer Vision Operate

Image recognition has commercial applications today in optical character recognition for scanning documents<sup>[8]</sup> and translating signs.<sup>[9]</sup> It works as facial recognition for tagging people in social media posts<sup>[10]</sup> and object recognition to determine what is in a picture.<sup>[11]</sup> It also gives situational awareness information in the still-developing field of self-driving cars.<sup>[12]–[16]</sup>

Image recognition and, more broadly, computer vision operate by various mechanisms, depending on the system. The most common methods with high accuracy involve training an algorithm with preexisting datasets. The algorithm types with the most promise for space-based space domain awareness include image segmentation, object detection, edge detection, pattern detection, image classification, and feature matching.<sup>[14]</sup> Exactly how each of those algorithms operates is beyond the scope of this article but may be studied more in future articles.

Some challenges for space-based computer vision include solar glare, atmospheric distortion, distance, irregularly shaped objects, and new objects with no prior reference.<sup>[2]</sup> If an object is silhouetted against the sun or Moon, that will form a different visual signature. If an object reflects sunlight directly into the sensor, it can overexpose the sensor and potentially damage it. If looking for activity within the atmosphere, lensing, Rayleigh Scattering, clouds, and shimmer can affect signal processing image quality. Because most space objects will experience negligible atmospheric drag, they are typically designed in ways that present significantly different profiles depending on their orientations relative to an observer. These changing profiles can make classification challenging. In orbit, most objects will be thousands of kilometers apart. As we extend into cislunar space, the distance involved increases by one to two orders of magnitude. If we operate these sensors for planetary defense, we move into the billions of kilometers, looking at between 1 and ≈150 AU.<sup>[17]–[20]</sup>

#### Satellites

One use of computer vision and image recognition is for satellite space traffic control. These are the most straightforward objects to detect, by nature of their length in the 10 cm to 109 m range.<sup>[21], [22]</sup> Commercial and science payloads typically have multiple reference photos that can be fed into an algorithm to detect the satellite on sight. Military and reconnaissance payloads by nature of their secrecy would necessitate an adaptive supervised learning method of image recognition that is regularly updated and verified with a human.

Maintaining separate training, validation, and test sets will be both challenging and yet vital to allowing image recognition to work in this environment.<sup>[23]</sup> These data sets and models generated from them will need to be updated frequently to prevent model drift.<sup>[24]</sup> Each new launch represents a new payload (or typically multiple payloads)<sup>[25], [26]</sup> necessitating the update of the catalog and image recognition models. These updates are essential after collisions, discarded staging, and other debris enter orbit.

While image recognition will be a powerful tool for identifying objects, it can also determine their trajectories to update the satellite catalog maintained by the 18th Space Control Squadron.<sup>[27]</sup> One easy way to do this is to calculate the object's parallax against the celestial background over a few recording frames.<sup>[28]</sup> For objects in low Earth orbit, parallax may be possible through stereoscopic imaging in a single satellite. Cislunar space may require multiple spacecraft for effective stereoscopy. Comparison references can be made using either parallax method, but against the Earth or Moon for orientation.

Depending on the field of view and other objects in the frame, distance could also be measured through parallax. That can be assisted by the use of additional ranging sensors for accuracy. Such sensors include LIDAR and microwave radar, although power requirements and time delays become technical hurdles at cislunar distances and beyond.<sup>[2]</sup>

### Debris

While satellites typically refer to intentionally launched and orbiting spacecraft, the term technically encompasses all objects orbiting a body<sup>[29]</sup> and includes debris. However, practically speaking, space debris is a collective term referencing orbital objects that serve no functional purpose. This includes lost tool bags, rocket bodies, paint chips, decommissioned satellites, pieces from satellite break-ups, and meteoroids.<sup>[30], [31]</sup>

By their nature, debris will have irregular shapes that will likely not have perfect matches in any database. Further, many objects will be so small that they cannot be effectively tracked by ground-based radar.<sup>[32]</sup> Debris-tracking is an area where on-orbit optical tracking and mmWave radar can significantly improve space domain awareness. In addition to size and shape disparities, debris dispersion patterns and satellite maneuvering could result in multiple blind spots where objects hide behind each other relative to the sensor (ground-based or orbital). This can be mitigated through continuous observation and overlapping lanes of coverage from a variety of orbits.

#### Early Warning

Satellites have historically been used for and continue to be used for multiple early warning systems directed at the ground.<sup>[33], [34]</sup> While intercontinental ballistic missiles and other rockets have been the primary detection mission for these satellites, there are additional possibilities with improved automation.

#### Hypersonic Aircraft and Projectiles

As our sensors continue to improve, detecting hypersonic aircraft should be the easiest since they still require considerable thrust, which will be hot and reasonably obvious with existing infrared detection systems.<sup>[35]</sup> However, their proposed low-altitude flight profile could represent a challenge cleaning the heat signature from the rapidly moving background of the ground below. That would be a task well-suited to a variety of artificial intelligence computer vision systems. This is also a task that could potentially be accomplished with orbital radar. However, this would likely require significantly more power than merely passive detection. It would still require considerable signal processing to remove the ground below to a degree much higher than with infrared sensing, where propulsion systems produce far more heat than background targets.<sup>[36]–[39]</sup>

A slightly more challenging but still important task would be to track hypersonic projectiles, such as those generated from railguns and coilguns. Per publicly available test data, such projectiles can travel up to 100 miles without any additional propulsion.<sup>[40]</sup> This means there could be minimal warning for ground assets without persistent overhead imaging. Further, since these projectiles are not actively propelled in-flight, their infrared signatures will be negligible. The air will still be heated around them if they travel fast enough, but detecting them would require much more advanced signal processing than is required to detect missile launches. Using orbital mmWave radar sensors could be a way to see through clouds.<sup>[41]</sup> However, we would still have to perform a large amount of signal processing to remove background noise produced by radar reflections off ground features and slower-moving objects.

#### **Planetary Defense**

Another huge benefit for orbital assets is planetary defense. We have a lot of blind spots using only ground-based sensors. If we place radio and optical telescopes at various stable Lagrange points, we can substantially increase the area we cover in tracking near-earth asteroids.<sup>[17], [42]</sup>

After placing the observatories, we then have to filter all the objects we track. We have to classify them by type, distance, and classic orbital elements, along with their risk of impact. Because of the sheer volume of comets and asteroids in our solar system (> 1.1 million),<sup>[43]</sup> we need to classify these objects using some form of artificial intelligence. Otherwise, it will take far too long and be prohibitively expensive to catalog all items that could one day pose an existential threat to life on Earth.<sup>[44]</sup>

Planetary defense is once again a great place for computer vision systems. The time scale involved allows for more options here than with satellite traffic, including handling algorithms on the ground where it is much easier to upgrade computing power and algorithm accuracy.

## **Object Avoidance**

Artificial intelligence will shine with object avoidance. Because space is a complicated environment full of moving objects, a well-trained artificial intelligence algorithm can take all known data about space traffic and conduct analyses of multiple course-correction options within a fraction of a second. This data includes calculations that would take a human minutes to calculate by hand for a single possible path.<sup>[45]</sup> Once the calculations are made, alongside probabilities of success and second-order collisions, there are two possibilities. The algorithm can issue maneuver recommendations or conduct autonomous actions. Both options will increase the amount of orbital traffic that can be safely handled, increasing the amount of possible activity in the commercial, exploration, and national security sectors.

## Maneuver Recommendations

If the algorithm is used to issue maneuver recommendations, it can issue a top-three recommendation with success probabilities for each action. These recommendations can be presented by text, as graphical overlays on its path highlighting the threat, a combination of both, or in a different method. There are already a multitude of automated warning systems in use in non-space environments.

Cars have blind-spot monitoring systems that issue audible or visible warnings when drivers try to merge with a car in their path.<sup>[46]</sup> Most commercial jets have terrain avoidance and warning systems that issue audio alerts and a recommended action, "WHOOP WHOOP PULL UP," as an example.<sup>[47]</sup>

We can design something similar in our space environment. A visual alert with recommendations, like many video games use in tutorials or during specific sections of gameplay, could form the basis of this design.<sup>[48]</sup> Recommended path corridors could take a similar form to synthetic vision setups in commercial aviation glass cockpits, identifying flight-path markers, danger areas, and recommended actions.<sup>[49]</sup> Before deciding on an exact form, current system operators, user experience designers, graphics designers, and data visualization experts should all be consulted. These consultations will ensure the resulting software solution is usable, looks good, and communicates the necessary information quickly and effectively.

## Autonomous Action

Artificial intelligence can do a lot more than simply suggest possible actions. Properly trained algorithms can take action on their own. This would decrease reaction time<sup>[50], [51]</sup> and allow for the most efficient use of orbital slots. This also opens up many opportunities requiring short evaluation and reaction times. However, there are also limits to what can be accomplished autonomously. Amazon and Tesla are two companies that have heavily relied on automation but also found limits to what the machines can accomplish relative to humans.<sup>[52]</sup> The exact split in capabilities and duties between automation and humans will vary considerably depending on what is technologically possible at any given time.

## Maneuver

The most obvious place to start is with autonomous maneuvering. Since artificial intelligence can already conduct analyses to choose the best options by the probability of success, why not allow that algorithm to execute the best option on its own? Computers can execute maneuvers with minimal delay or reaction time. This allows for satellites to be considerably closer together. SpaceX has already equipped its Starlink system with automated collision avoidance maneuvering capabilities.<sup>[53]</sup> Autonomous collision avoidance is a feature that will need to become standard as we launch more and more objects into space, with estimates projecting over 100,000 satellites being launched within the next decade.<sup>[54]</sup>

As we design systems that autonomously maneuver, we need to design them with "rules of the space lanes" similar to rules of the road and right of way on the seas and in the air. However, space inherently has several key differences. First, many objects are effectively "dead in the water." Second, a single change will affect many objects in a ripple effect. Third, while some satellites can maneuver with ease, others maneuver slowly. Finally, orbits do not behave like terrestrial pathways due to orbital perturbations and a lack of air resistance.<sup>[55]</sup> These factors need to be considered when crafting both rules of the roads and autonomously maneuvering satellites.

Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs)<sup>[56]</sup> within a digital twin<sup>[57]</sup> framework would likely be the best training ground for developing algorithms capable of choosing and executing the best maneuvers. Specifically for applications such as precision station-keeping, satellite chasing, collision avoidance, docking, and quickly charting paths through cislunar space with its bizarre gravitational effects.<sup>[2]</sup> After the framework is developed, an outgrowth of that algorithm should be built to handle computer vision to know its actual environment and natural language processing to effectively interpret desired end-states from constellation operators. That is correct, *constellation* operators. Humans will not be operating individual satellites on the scale that humanity is moving towards, except in rare circumstances. Most interactions will be with constellations or clusters of satellites since the algorithms can do the heavy lifting of the actual maneuvers.

#### Repair

What happens when a satellite breaks down on-orbit, in cislunar space, or beyond? How can it be returned to operational status? The traditional method has been to send humans to conduct spacewalks to repair the malfunctioning satellite — if it is in low earth orbit.<sup>[58]</sup> Beyond that, if the operators cannot affect a repair remotely, it becomes a dead object. Further, human astronauts cost a considerable sum of money to place correctly for a repair. For example, the Hubble Space Telescope repair estimate in 1999 was \$205 million.<sup>[59]</sup> If we want efficient repairs, we need to remove humans from the equation.

The most recently demonstrated remote repair capability is from the Space Logistics MEV-2, where MEV-2 maneuvered onto Intelsat 10-02, allowing itself to serve as a maneuvering unit, extending the Intelsat 10-02's service life by five years.<sup>[60]</sup> As technology advances, repair missions like this can become commonplace, eventually handled entirely by artificial intelligence algorithms. Further, some automated repair mechanisms can be built into the satellite before launch, allowing the satellite to service itself for minor repairs as needed and instructed by the governing algorithm.

### Defense

Space is a contested environment.<sup>[61]</sup> It is easy enough to recognize a need to avoid accidentally hitting other operational satellites and debris. However, what happens if someone actively fires on our systems? Anti-satellite activity can take the shape of kinetic attacks from Earth (land, sea, or air-launched), kinetic attacks from orbit (throwing projectiles), signal jamming, sensor blinding, maneuvering to a satellite to rip it apart with a robotic arm, or even ramming one satellite into another.<sup>[62]</sup>

Protecting against aggressive action is a necessary component of keeping national defense assets operational. Protection could be handled by humans but would become costly and prone to error. With our goal to be a lean and agile force,<sup>[63]</sup> this needs to be handled computationally. Orbital defense is a prime environment to use a GAN algorithm. We can put in as much information as we have and have algorithms fight each other to learn from the fight and become even better so that when something occurs on-orbit, they can immediately execute the best defense. While GANs immediately stand out, other reinforcement learning models could also achieve the same objectives.

Using a system like this will save time and money and be a valuable force multiplier. Further, because such algorithms can be self-contained within an orbital asset, it improves survivability, even if the satellite is under electronic attack or a controlling ground station is incapacitated. That means that the combination of quicker reaction times and self-contained programming will allow the asset to stay active much longer in a degraded environment.

#### Offense

Offense has no place in the areas of commercial space or space exploration. However, this is an arena in which the Space Force must be prepared to operate. While we would prefer to deter aggressive action in space, should conflict break out, a key component of maneuver warfare is offensive action against designated enemy targets, in accordance with the laws of armed conflict.<sup>[64], [65]</sup>

The same features that make GAN algorithms attractive for defense make them equally attractive for offense. Other reinforcement learning methods could also work. For example, deep learning, like was used for AlphaGo, is another possibility.<sup>[66]</sup> Algorithms need to account for orbital maneuvering in evasive action, possible sensor blinding efforts,<sup>[67]</sup> and distraction countermeasures like chaff<sup>[68]</sup> in addition to any possible direct actions or counter actions occurring from the object being targeted for offensive action.

## Ethics

Automation raises many ethical questions. For centuries, humans have been concerned about how automation may negatively impact jobs.<sup>[69]</sup> While some jobs are susceptible to automation replacing them, many times, the same automation that usurped a job created new categories of jobs or changed the way the old job functioned. For example, when automated teller machines (ATMs) were introduced in the 1980s, the number of human tellers did not decrease. The number *increased*. However, the

human teller's job changed from counting cash to being a customer service representative and salesperson.<sup>[69, pp. 6–7]</sup>

Besides the obvious ethical questions related to jobs, there are further questions about algorithmic bias and decision making. The trolley problem is a classic ethical allegory for comparing ethical standards.<sup>[70]</sup> Many variations on the theme exist. For simplicity, assume a trolley is on a track headed toward several workers who cannot escape. You can switch the trolley to the only alternate track, thereby killing only one worker, or do nothing and allow the trolley to kill several workers. Your ethical framework determines the solution you choose and your rationale for that choice. Two example frameworks are whether you consider a net human gain to be best or doing no active harm to be best.

The trolley problem is hard enough for humans to solve. A prominent artificial intelligence YouTuber taught an algorithm how to solve the trolley problem.<sup>[71]</sup> In the process, she uncovered a complicated web of how the biases of training sets and the unconscious biases of programmers influence the final result.<sup>[71, Secs. 10 & 12]</sup> This has implications on-orbit for algorithmic defensive and offensive operations. When defending an asset, the algorithm needs to correctly identify threats. When counter-attacking or directly attacking, targets need to be correctly chosen. Mis-identification can cause grave damage to national security in a space battle if it results in a friendly-fire incident. It even has the potential to go beyond merely damaging assets and move to illegal territory that could be considered a war crime if the algorithm chooses to engage a target that is not a legitimate military objective. That itself opens another layer of ethical questions in determining who to hold to account for such actions.

The trolley problem, the importance of classification accuracy, biases, unintended consequences, algorithmic accountability, and more all underpin the growing field of ethics research in artificial intelligence. These questions are so important that the first United States Chief Data Scientist wrote and published an entire book on the subject.<sup>[72], [73]</sup> He also intentionally priced it as free to distribute to as many people as possible.<sup>[74]</sup> A key takeaway from his book is the importance of developing an ethics checklist tailored to each industry and company, or organization. This checklist should be used when developing and updating all artificial intelligence algorithms. The levels of ethical thought required vary according to the level of war being fought. Strategic levels require the most thought, and tactical levels require only rough rubrics. Even outside of algorithms, the importance of ethical thought is being strongly considered within the armed forces.<sup>[75]</sup>

Further, the Department of Defense has thought through and published five guiding principles for artificial intelligence in combat and non-combat roles.<sup>[76]</sup> When designing an artificial intelligence system, we must be responsible, equitable, use traceable techniques, create reliable systems, and deploy properly governable systems.<sup>[76]</sup> Therefore, developing these systems must follow appropriate rules from the Department of Defense, in addition to any space domain-specific rules the Space Force develops.

## Algorithmic Checks and Balances

Related to the ethics of ensuring algorithms are making the correct decisions is verifying those assurances. Verification can take several forms. The first form is regular validation testing to ensure the models have not drifted.<sup>[77]</sup> That means testing the models with a recent sample of real-world data to ensure that the statistical decisions match what was achieved in training. Machine learning engineers will need to regularly perform validation testing to prevent undesirable model drift.

Another idea is to regularly perform competitions between different algorithms and human operators to see who performs the best and why. Competitions could take the form of a regular portion of Space Flag exercises. From those results, the existing systems can be updated with lessons learned.

Humans have displayed algorithm aversion in many situations.<sup>[78]</sup> This takes the form of preferring humans over algorithms, even when algorithms perform better than humans. A key component to making computational supplements to humans work is getting those humans to trust the computer's decisions. For humans to trust an algorithm, they need to be confident that the algorithm has the same information as the human, the same goals, and a compatible decision matrix, in addition to a high statistical likelihood of success.

One facet of this discussion is the concept of algorithmic black boxes that absorb information and then spit out decisions in a way that makes no sense to humans.<sup>[79]</sup> While this approach is common in machine learning environments, it has significant risks to operational success.<sup>[80]</sup> Many people operating in the space of artificial intelligence operate under a "Bigger is better" mentality, meaning that the more complicated the model, the better it will perform.<sup>[80]</sup> However, that assumption is not necessarily valid. Models designed with inherent interpretability perform within a margin of error of black-box type systems.<sup>[80]</sup>. <sup>[81]</sup> Because their performance is so close to large black-box models, small and interpretable systems should be the default. Smaller interpretable systems can more readily have their processing handled onboard an orbiting system (reducing reaction times) and significantly increase trust for operators and civilian oversight of any military operations using these systems.

## Conclusion

Image recognition and computer vision have many applications for orbital assets in commercial and national security environments. These systems can be used to inform human operators, provide early warning, and issue maneuver recommendations. They can also function as modular algorithms, feeding into larger algorithms for autonomous object avoidance, autonomous repair, and even conducting some level of autonomous defensive and offensive actions on-orbit. The sensors and information needed for success vary depending on the orbital regime, expected threats and targets, and expected actions. Developing these systems requires an interdisciplinary team of statisticians, machine learning engineers, ethicists, lawyers, and satellite operators. Once these systems are operational, they open the door for an exponential increase in human activity on-orbit and beyond Earth's gravitational influence.

Second Lieutenant David M. Vermillion, USSF, is currently a student at the 533d Training Squadron, Space Training and Readiness Delta (Provisional), Vandenberg SFB, CA. This paper represents solely the author's views and do not necessarily represent the official policy or position of any Department or Agency of the U.S. Government. If you have a different perspective, we'd like to hear from you.

# References

- [1] M. Kocifaj, F. Kundracik, J. C. Barentine, and S. Bará, "The proliferation of space objects is a rapidly increasing source of artificial night sky brightness," Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1093/mnrasl/slab030.
- [2] M. J. Holzinger, C. C. Chow, and P. Garretson, "A Primer on Cislunar Space," Air Force Research Laboratory, no. AFRL 2021-1271, p. 23, May 2021, Accessed: Jun. 24, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.afrl.af.mil/Portals/90/Documents/RV/A%20Primer%20on%20Cislunar%20Space\_Dist% 20A\_PA2021-1271.pdf?ver=vs6e0sE4PuJ51QC-15DEfg%3d%3d.
- [3] R. Smith, "The Key Differences Between Rule-Based AI And Machine Learning," Medium, Jul. 23, 2020. https://becominghuman.ai/the-key-differences-between-rule-based-ai-and-machine-learning-8792e545e6 (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [4] B. Dickson, "What is the difference between supervised and unsupervised machine learning?," *TechTalks*, Feb. 10, 2020. https://bdtechtalks.com/2020/02/10/unsupervised-learning-vs-supervised-learning/ (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [5] S. Nikolaev *et al.*, "BRUTE FORCE MODELING OF THE KESSLER SYNDROME," *LLNL-CONF-579617*, p. 12, 2012, [Online]. Available: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Brute-Force-Modeling-of-the-Kessler-Syndrome-Nikolaev-Phillion/b7f068fd79d3c138a758294e827ee3b6aa648b32.
- [6] "AI in Software Testing: Rule-Based Testing vs. Learning Systems," *Tricentis*. https://www.tricentis.com/artificial-intelligence-software-testing/ai-approaches-rule-based-testing-vs-learning/ (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [7] "Instruments of National Power," *The Lightning Press SMARTbooks*, Sep. 20, 2014. https://www.thelightningpress.com/the-instruments-of-national-power/ (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [8] "Optical Character Recognition | Computerworld." https://www.computerworld.com/article/2577868/optical-character-recognition.html (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- "Google Translate's instant camera translation gets an upgrade," Google, Jul. 10, 2019. https://blog.google/products/translate/google-translates-instant-camera-translation-gets-upgrade/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [10] "Facial recognition: top 7 trends (tech, vendors, markets, use cases & latest news)," Thales Group. https://www.thalesgroup.com/en/markets/digital-identity-andsecurity/government/biometrics/facial-recognition (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [11] Pocket-lint, "What is Google Lens and how does it work? Pocket-lint," Apr. 01, 2021. https://www.pocket-lint.com/apps/news/google/141075-what-is-google-lens-and-how-does-itwork-and-which-devices-have-it (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [12] A. Joby, "Computer Vision: How Machines Interpret the Visual World." https://learn.g2.com/computer-vision (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [13] I. Mihajlovic, "Everything You Ever Wanted To Know About Computer Vision. Here's A Look Why It's So Awesome.," Medium, Feb. 09, 2020. https://towardsdatascience.com/everything-you-everwanted-to-know-about-computer-vision-heres-a-look-why-it-s-so-awesome-e8a58dfb641e (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [14] "Computer Vision: What it is and why it matters | SAS." https://www.sas.com/en\_us/insights/analytics/computer-vision.html (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [15] "Introduction to computer vision: what it is and how it works," Algorithmia Blog, Apr. 02, 2018. https://algorithmia.com/blog/introduction-to-computer-vision (accessed Jun. 23, 2021).
- [16] "7 challenges of Computer Vision in self-driving cars," *Tooploox*, Apr. 01, 2021. https://www.tooploox.com/blog/7-challenges-of-computer-vision-in-self-driving-cars (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).

- [17] "Defend Earth," *The Planetary Society*. https://www.planetary.org/defend-earth (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [18] T. Talbert, "Near-Earth Object Observations Program," *NASA*, Feb. 12, 2019. http://www.nasa.gov/planetarydefense/neoo (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [19] by P. Davis, "How Big Is the Solar System?," NASA Solar System Exploration. https://solarsystem.nasa.gov/news/1164/how-big-is-the-solar-system (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [20] "Voyager." https://voyager.jpl.nasa.gov/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [21] "CubeSats Overview | NASA." https://www.nasa.gov/mission\_pages/cubesats/overview (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [22] M. Garcia, "International Space Station Facts and Figures," *NASA*, Apr. 28, 2016. http://www.nasa.gov/feature/facts-and-figures (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [23] J. Brownlee, "What is the Difference Between Test and Validation Datasets?," Machine Learning Mastery, Jul. 13, 2017. https://machinelearningmastery.com/difference-test-validation-datasets/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [24] "What is Concept Drift? Model Drift in Machine Learning," *Datatron Blog*, Apr. 14, 2021. https://blog.datatron.com/what-is-model-drift/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [25] A. Thompson, "SpaceX launches a record 143 satellites on one rocket, aces landing," Space.com. https://www.space.com/spacex-launches-143-satellites-transporter-1-rocket-landing (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [26] "SpaceX Smallsat Rideshare Program," *SpaceX Smallsat Rideshare Program*. http://www.spacex.com/rideshare (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [27] "18th Space Control Squadron," Peterson Air Force Base. https://www.peterson.spaceforce.mil/About/Fact-Sheets/Display/Article/2356622/18th-spacecontrol-squadron/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [28] J. Lucas, "What Is Parallax?," *Space.com*. https://www.space.com/30417-parallax.html (accessed Jun. 24, 2021).
- [29] S. May, "What Is a Satellite?," NASA, Jun. 16, 2015. http://www.nasa.gov/audience/forstudents/5-8/features/nasa-knows/what-is-a-satellite-58.html (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [30] M. Garcia, "Space Debris and Human Spacecraft," NASA, Apr. 13, 2015. http://www.nasa.gov/mission\_pages/station/news/orbital\_debris.html (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [31] J. Bryner, "Backyard Skywatchers Find Tool Bag Lost in Space," Space.com. https://www.space.com/6160-backyard-skywatchers-find-tool-bag-lost-space.html (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [32] "ARES | Orbital Debris Program Office | Debris Measurements." https://www.orbitaldebris.jsc.nasa.gov/measurements/ (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [33] "Space Force launches billion-dollar satellite to warn of missile launches." https://www.cbsnews.com/news/space-force-launches-missile-early-warning-satellite/ (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [34] "Space-Based Early Warning: From MIDAS to DSP to SBIRS." https://nsarchive2.gwu.edu/NSAEBB/NSAEBB235/20130108.html (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [35] G. R. December 2020, "Air Force Research Lab demos 'record-breaking' scramjet and 'high-speed' warhead," *Flight Global*. https://www.flightglobal.com/fixed-wing/air-force-research-lab-demos-record-breaking-scramjet-and-high-speed-warhead/141621.article (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [36] "The basic types of clutter Radartutorial." https://www.radartutorial.eu/11.coherent/co04.en.html (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [37] "Seeing through smoke: How FLIR's thermal imaging tech helps assess Oregon's wildfires from above," *GeekWire*, Sep. 20, 2020. https://www.geekwire.com/2020/seeing-smoke-flirs-thermal-imaging-tech-helps-assess-oregons-wildfires/ (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).

- [38] "Climate Change: Global Temperature | NOAA Climate.gov." https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/climate-change-global-temperature (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [39] M. Smart and R. Stalker, "Scramjet Combustion Processes," *Defense Technical Information Center*. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/ADA581903.pdf (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [40] "Report on Navy Laser, Railgun and Gun-Launched Guided Projectiles," USNI News, Mar. 04, 2021. https://news.usni.org/2021/03/04/report-on-navy-laser-railgun-and-gun-launched-guidedprojectiles-8 (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [41] "See through clouds," Oct. 30, 2019. https://www.aopa.org/news-and-media/allnews/2019/october/30/see-through-clouds (accessed Jun. 25, 2021).
- [42] "WMAP Observatory: Lagrange Points." https://wmap.gsfc.nasa.gov/mission/observatory\_l2.html (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [43] "Small Bodies," NASA Solar System Exploration. https://solarsystem.nasa.gov/asteroids-comets-andmeteors/overview (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [44] J. S. H. S. Writer, "New theory behind Chicxulub impactor that killed the dinosaurs," *Harvard Gazette*, Feb. 15, 2021. https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2021/02/new-theory-behind-asteroid-that-killed-the-dinosaurs/ (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [45] S. Widnall, "Orbit Transfers and Interplanetary Trajectories," p. 12.
- [46] "Is Blind-Spot Monitoring Worth It? What Is It Exactly?," *MotorTrend*, May 12, 2020. https://www.motortrend.com/news/blind-spot-monitoring/ (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [47] "Terrain Avoidance and Warning System (TAWS) SKYbrary Aviation Safety." https://www.skybrary.aero/index.php/Terrain\_Avoidance\_and\_Warning\_System\_(TAWS) (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [48] Viva La Dirt League, When video games hold your hand Clues. .
- [49] Garmin and G. L. or its subsidiaries, "SVT<sup>™</sup> for G1000<sup>®</sup> | Garmin | Synthetic Vision Technology," *Garmin*. https://buy.garmin.com/en-US/US/p/37630 (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [50] "Study measures how fast humans react to road hazards," MIT News | Massachusetts Institute of Technology. https://news.mit.edu/2019/how-fast-humans-react-car-hazards-0807 (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [51] "Autonomous Cars Will Be Very Fast, But First They Need to Go Slow," *Inverse*. https://www.inverse.com/article/28110-self-driving-car-speed-future (accessed Jun. 27, 2021).
- [52] E. Rosenbaum, "Why Amazon warehouses and Tesla auto plants will not go 100% robot any time soon," *CNBC*, Sep. 16, 2020. https://www.cnbc.com/2020/09/16/why-amazon-warehouses-tesla-auto-plants-will-not-go-100percent-robot.html (accessed Jul. 05, 2021).
- [53] "SpaceX: There Was No Near-Collision Between Starlink and OneWeb Satellites," PCMAG. https://www.pcmag.com/news/spacex-there-was-no-near-collision-between-starlink-and-onewebsatellites (accessed Jun. 28, 2021).
- [54] "Beyond the planet: Charting the future of the space sector," MyITU, Dec. 14, 2020. https://www.itu.int:443/en/myitu/News/2020/12/14/11/23/Future-space-sector-2050-Web-Summit (accessed Jun. 28, 2021).
- [55] M. M. Peet, "Spacecraft Dynamics and Control," presented at the Lecture 12: Orbital Perturbations, Arizona State University, [Online]. Available: http://control.asu.edu/Classes/MAE462/462Lecture12.pdf.
- [56] J. Brownlee, "A Gentle Introduction to Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs)," Machine Learning Mastery, Jun. 16, 2019. https://machinelearningmastery.com/what-are-generative-adversarialnetworks-gans/ (accessed Jun. 28, 2021).
- [57] "Cheat sheet: What is Digital Twin? Internet of Things blog," *IBM Business Operations Blog*, Dec. 04, 2020. https://www.ibm.com/blogs/internet-of-things/iot-cheat-sheet-digital-twin/ (accessed Jun. 28, 2021).

- [58] "Skylab 2: First Repair Spacewalk | NASA." https://www.nasa.gov/feature/skylab-2-first-repairspacewalk (accessed Jun. 28, 2021).
- [59] N. Neal and D. Savage, "Hubble Space Telescope Servicing Mission 3A: Cost to Taxpayers," National Aeronautics and Space Administration Goddard Space Flight Center, no. FS-1999-10-032-GSFC, p. 2, Oct. 1999, Accessed: Jun. 29, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://asd.gsfc.nasa.gov/archive/sm3a/downloads/sm3a fact sheets/cost-to-taxpayers.pdf.
- [60] "Northrop Grumman and Intelsat Make History with Docking of Second Mission Extension Vehicle to Extend Life of Satellite," Northrop Grumman Newsroom. https://news.northropgrumman.com/news/releases/northrop-grumman-and-intelsat-make-history-with-docking-of-second-mission-extension-vehicle-to-extend-life-of-satellite (accessed Jun. 29, 2021).
- [61] T. Harrison, Z. Cooper, K. Johnson, and T. Roberts, "The Evolution of Space as a Contested Domain," Op-Ed SN-10-09-2017. Accessed: Jun. 29, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://aerospace.csis.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/Harrison\_SpaceNews.pdf.
- [62] "Pentagon report: China amassing arsenal of anti-satellite weapons," SpaceNews, Sep. 01, 2020. https://spacenews.com/pentagon-report-china-amassing-arsenal-of-anti-satellite-weapons/ (accessed Jun. 30, 2021).
- [63] "Space Force to Remain 'Lean, Agile, Fast," U.S. DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE. https://www.defense.gov/Explore/News/Article/Article/2419856/space-force-to-remain-lean-agilefast/ (accessed Jun. 30, 2021).
- [64] "Maneuver Warfare: 'Reports of My Death Have Been Greatly Exaggerated,'" *Modern War Institute*, Mar. 09, 2021. https://mwi.usma.edu/maneuver-warfare-reports-of-my-death-have-been-greatlyexaggerated/ (accessed Jun. 30, 2021).
- [65] "Introduction To The Law Of Armed Conflict-Basic Knowledge," *International Committee of the Red Cross Unit for Relations with Armed and Security Forces*, p. 29, Jun. 2002, [Online]. Available: https://www.icrc.org/en/doc/assets/files/other/law1\_final.pdf.
- [66] "AlphaGo: The story so far," *Deepmind*. https://deepmind.com/research/case-studies/alphago-the-story-so-far (accessed Jun. 30, 2021).
- [67] "Optical warfare: technology emerges to see the enemy, and to blind him," *Military Aerospace*, Mar. 01, 1997. https://www.militaryaerospace.com/communications/article/16710290/optical-warfare-technology-emerges-to-see-the-enemy-and-to-blind-him (accessed Jul. 01, 2021).
- [68] B. Muller, "Chaff in Weather Radar Imagery," *Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University Meteorology*. https://wx.erau.edu/faculty/mullerb/Wx365/Chaff/chaff.html (accessed Jul. 01, 2021).
- [69] D. H. Autor, "Why Are There Still So Many Jobs? The History and Future of Workplace Automation," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 3–30, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1257/jep.29.3.3.
- [70] "Could There Be A Solution To The Trolley Problem? | Issue 116 | Philosophy Now." https://philosophynow.org/issues/116/Could\_There\_Be\_A\_Solution\_To\_The\_Trolley\_Problem (accessed Jul. 02, 2021).
- [71] Answer in Progress, i taught an AI to solve the trolley problem. .
- [72] "The White House Names Dr. DJ Patil as the First U.S. Chief Data Scientist," whitehouse.gov, Feb. 18, 2015. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2015/02/18/white-house-names-dr-dj-patil-first-us-chief-data-scientist (accessed Jul. 02, 2021).
- [73] M. Loukides, H. Mason, and D. J. Patil, Ethics and Data Science, 1st edition. O'Reilly Media, 2018.
- [74] "SDS 355: DJ Patil on Harnessing the Power of Data Science Community Podcast SuperDataScience - Machine Learning | AI | Data Science Career | Analytics | Success," SuperDataScience. https://www.superdatascience.com/podcast/dj-patil-on-harnessing-the-power-of-data-sciencecommunity (accessed Jul. 02, 2021).
- [75] T. Burkhardt, Just War and Human Rights: Fighting with Right Intention. Albany: SUNY Press, 2017.

- [76] "DOD Adopts Ethical Principles for Artificial Intelligence," U.S. DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE. https://www.defense.gov/Newsroom/Releases/Release/Article/2091996/dod-adopts-ethicalprinciples-for-artificial-intelligence/ (accessed Jul. 04, 2021).
- [77] "Best Practices for Dealing with Concept Drift," Open Data Science Your News Source for AI, Machine Learning & more, Jul. 28, 2020. https://opendatascience.com/best-practices-for-dealingwith-concept-drift/ (accessed Jul. 03, 2021).
- [78] B. J. Dietvorst, J. Simmons, and C. Massey, "Algorithm Aversion: People Erroneously Avoid Algorithms after Seeing Them Err," *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, pp. 114–126, Feb. 2015, doi: 10.1037/xge0000033.
- [79] W. Kenton, "Black Box Model," *Investopedia*, Aug. 25, 2020. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/blackbox.asp (accessed Jul. 04, 2021).
- [80] B. Dickson, "The dangers of trusting black-box machine learning," *TechTalks*, Jul. 27, 2020. https://bdtechtalks.com/2020/07/27/black-box-ai-models/ (accessed Jul. 04, 2021).
- [81] C. Rudin and J. Radin, "Why Are We Using Black Box Models in AI When We Don't Need To? A Lesson From An Explainable AI Competition," *Harvard Data Science Review*, vol. 1, no. 2, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1162/99608f92.5a8a3a3d.